FILED  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION ONE  
DEC 11 2015

NO. 737481

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

BRAND INSULATIONS, INC.,

Appellants,

v.

ESTATE OF BARBARA BRANDES

Respondent.

---

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

David A. Shaw, WSBA #08788  
Malika I. Johnson, WSBA #39608  
WILLIAMS, KASTNER & GIBBS PLLC  
Attorneys for Appellant  
601 Union Street, Suite 4100  
Seattle, WA 98101  
(206) 628-6600

## **I. INTRODUCTION**

Brand Insulations, Inc. (“hereinafter Brand”) was an insulation subcontractor employed by general contractor Ralph M. Parsons during the construction phase of the ARCO Cherry Point refinery. Brand installed insulation specified by the owner and general contractor at the refinery, in this case, both asbestos and asbestos free insulation. Plaintiff Brandes was the wife of a man employed by ARCO as an operator at the facility. She developed mesothelioma and sued Brand, among others, alleging her disease was caused by asbestos brought home on her husband’s clothing and person.

## **II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. The trial court erred by ruling that Washington’s construction statute of repose did not bar Mrs. Brandes’ claims which accrued more than forty years after substantial completion of the refinery.

2. The trial court erred in recognizing a duty of care under the law of negligence in the context of a “take-home” exposure to asbestos where no special relationship existed between Brand and Plaintiff Mrs. Brandes.

3. The trial court erred in ruling that the plaintiff had presented sufficient evidence of causation to create a question for the jury.

4. The trial court erred in allowing plaintiff to assert a “negligent sales” cause of action and instructing the jury as to that cause<sup>1</sup>

5. The trial court erred in refusing to instruct the jury that a contractor who performs his work in accordance with specifications provided by the owner or the owner’s agent is not liable if specified construction materials are later proven to be defective. The court erred in denying Brand’s motion for dismissal on those grounds.

6. The trial court erred in allocating settlement proceeds from Mrs. Brandes’ personal injury action to a possible future wrongful death case, where, under Washington law, future wrongful death claims against settling defendants are eliminated as a matter of law by the settlement.

7. The trial court erred in permitting Plaintiff to display experimental video evidence of the cutting of asbestos pipe insulation and the shaking out of asbestos laden clothing.

### **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Barbara Brandes was born November 4, 1934 in Boise, Idaho. (CP 000376). Mrs. Brandes married her husband, Raymond Brandes, May 12, 1953. (CP 000377). Mrs. Brandes was diagnosed with mesothelioma June of 2014. (CP 000388). On August 6, 2014, Plaintiffs filed a personal injury action naming Brand as a defendant. (CP 000396). Plaintiffs

---

<sup>1</sup> In *Ehlert v. Brand Insulations*, this court previously ruled that Brand was not a product seller under 402A, in a case involving the same refinery construction project.

alleged Mrs. Brandes was exposed to respirable asbestos fibers carried home on Mr. Brandes' clothing during the time that he worked for the ARCO Cherry Point refinery from 1971 to 1975. (CP 000386). Mrs. Brandes laundered her husband's work clothes during their marriage. *Id.*

ARCO Cherry Point refinery was originally designed to be an asbestos-free facility. (CP 000414-17, CP 000423-24). Approximately half way through the construction phase the general contractor on the job, The Ralph M. Parsons Company, informed ARCO that the asbestos-free materials were inadequate. *Id.* At that time, the project began employing asbestos containing insulation materials. *Id.* The Crude unit was the first unit on line at the refinery, and therefore would have been insulated first, likely using the non-asbestos containing insulations. *Id.* According to ARCO, a good portion of the insulation in the Crude Unit did not contain asbestos. *Id.* Mr. Brandes' first duty station at ARCO was as an operator on the Crude Unit. (VRP 590).

In 1970, the Ralph M. Parsons Company subcontracted Brand to perform insulation installation at the Cherry Point Refinery. (CP 000428). The work was to be performed under Parsons' direction according to the specifications set forth by the agreement. *Id.* Parsons retained full authority over the administration of work performed and specified the materials to be used. (CP 000429). The contract outlined the type of

insulation, the performance standards, general procedures, and extent of work to be done. *Id.* The contract contained precise specifications as to what products were to be used by Brand to insulate piping on the project.

c. All piping shall be insulated with "chloride free" calcium silicate insulation as manufactured by PABCO Division of Fibreboard Corporation, Emeryville, California and/or Johns-Manville Sales Corporation, Industrial Insulations Division.

(CP 000463). Brand performed the installation of insulation on the Crude Unit where Mr. Brandes first worked. *Id.* By September 1971, the Crude Unit had been turned over to ARCO for operation and maintenance. (CP 000485, CP 000503). Brand left the Cherry Point facility and turned over all their remaining inventory of insulation materials to Parsons as of February 1972. (CP 000505). Once Brand completed the construction phase of a unit, it was turned over to ARCO. ARCO contracted with TEMCO to perform maintenance services in August of 1971. (CP 000507).

Ray Brandes was hired to work as an operator at the Cherry Point refinery March of 1971. (VRP 588). From March until September, the ARCO employees attended classroom training off site that was provided by ARCO. (VRP 589). In September, the new employees began some on the job training at the facility. (VRP 635-36). By mid-November of 1971, Mr. Brandes was working in the Crude unit which was fully operational.

(VRP 589). Mr. Brandes worked out of the operator's room, a pre-fabricated metal enclosed building located within a unit. (CP 000529-30). An operator was charged with maintaining continuous operation of the processing unit. *Id.* This required an operator to walk through the unit 6-8 times a day to monitor and ensure proper operation of the equipment. *Id.* As an operator, Ray may have prepared equipment for whatever needed to be done to maintain it, which could have included removing insulation to gain access to the equipment. (CP 616). If the insulation was on a pipe, an operator would typically use a screwdriver to pull off the metal cladding and then break the insulation off the pipe. *Id.* If the insulation was saturated with oil, it would not necessarily be dusty, but sometimes it was. *Id.* According to Mr. Brandes, he removed insulation from pipes approximately one-two times per month. (CP 000567). During such work, Mr. Brandes wore an ARCO provided respirator approximately fifty percent of the time. *Id.*

Prior to trial, Brand moved for summary judgment on numerous grounds. (CP 000349-50). Metalclad, a co-defendant in the case moved for summary judgment based on the contractor's statute of repose and Brand adopted and incorporated by reference that argument into their motion. (CP 002778).

The trial court granted Brand's motion to dismiss Mrs. Brandes' strict liability claims on the grounds that Brand's conduct as a contractor installing insulation products did not constitute a product sale within the meaning of Restatement (Second) of Torts § 402A (1965).<sup>2</sup> (VRP 52). The trial court, denied the remainder of Brand's motion. (VRP 51-53).

Despite the fact that the trial judge dismissed the strict liability claims against Brand upon a finding that Brand was *not a seller* of insulation products, the judge allowed Plaintiffs to proceed on a purported "negligent sales" claim. (VRP 1490).

After a judgment for Plaintiff, Plaintiff brought a motion to allocate fifty percent of the settlement proceeds to a future wrongful death claim. (CP 005518). Brand opposed the motion. Brand filed a motion for new trial, judgment notwithstanding the verdict, or in the alternative, remittitur. (CP 005192). The trial judge denied Brand's motion for a new trial but granted remittitur, reducing the verdict from \$3,500,000 to \$2,500,000. (CP 005428-31). The trial judge ultimately granted Plaintiff's motion and set off twenty percent of the settlement proceeds to the statutory heir's future wrongful death claim. *Id.*

---

<sup>2</sup> The trial court's ruling on the 402A issue was in accord with an unpublished Washington Court of Appeals Division I opinion involving the same defendant, the same refinery site and the same plaintiff attorneys. *See Ehlert v. Brand*, 183 Wn.App. 1006 (2014).

#### IV. ARGUMENT

##### A. Washington's Statute of Repose Bars Plaintiff's Claims

Washington's construction statute of repose, RCW 4.16.300-310, eliminates all claims or causes of action of any kind against any person arising from that person's participation in the construction, alteration or repair of any improvement to real property, unless such a claim or cause of action accrues within six years of substantial completion of the improvement. Brand was the primary insulation contractor for the construction of the ARCO refinery at Cherry Point, Washington. (VRP 1120). Brand commenced work on the project in early 1971 and left the project in February 1972. (VRP 1091, VRP 1118). The refinery produced its first barrel of refined Alaskan crude oil in November 1971. (VRP 589) Mr. Raymond Brandes began working for ARCO as an operator in 1971. (VRP 588). The Plaintiff, Barbara Brandes, was diagnosed with mesothelioma in 2014. (CP 000388).

Brand filed a motion for summary judgment seeking dismissal of plaintiff's claims based on the statute of repose and a dismissal of plaintiff's strict liability claims under Restatement (Second) of Torts §402A. (VRP 2). The trial court heard oral argument on motions for summary judgment March 6, 2015. (VRP 1). The court granted Brand's motion to dismiss the plaintiff's strict liability claims, but denied the



motion to dismiss remaining claims based upon Washington's construction statute of repose. (VRP 51-53). The court's order reads, in relevant part,

"The court further finds that the contractor's statute of repose does not apply to Plaintiff's negligent sales claims.<sup>3</sup> The court further finds that, with respect to Plaintiff's negligent installation claims, there are disputed issues of fact as to whether insulation constitutes an improvement to real property." (Attached as Appendix A).

In reviewing a trial court's denial of summary judgment, this Court makes the same inquiry as was required below, summary judgment is proper where there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Taggart v. State*, 118 Wn.2d 195, 199, 822 P.2d 243 (1992). The facts and reasonable inferences from the facts are considered in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Id.* at 199. Questions of law are reviewed de novo. *Sherman v. State*, 128 Wn.2d 164, 183, 905 P.2d 355 (1995). Brand's construction activities are protected by the statute of repose therefore this Court should reverse the trial court's denial of summary judgment and remand for a dismissal of the case.

**1. Plaintiff's Claims Fall Outside of the Repose Period**

RCW 4.16.310 provides in relevant part:

---

<sup>3</sup> As discussed in Brand's assignment of error to the Jury Instructions, under the law there is no "negligent sale" claim applicable to Brand.

All claims or causes of action as set forth in RCW 4.16.300 shall accrue, and the applicable statute of limitations shall begin to run only during the period within six years after substantial completion of construction, or during the period within six years after the termination of the services enumerated in RCW 4.16.300, whichever is later. The phrase “substantial completion of construction” shall mean the state of completion reached when an improvement upon real property may be used or occupied for its intended use. Any cause of action which has not accrued within six years after such termination of services, whichever is later, shall be barred...

Plaintiffs’ allegations of exposure stem from the time Mr. Brandes was employed at the ARCO Cherry Point refinery between 1971 and 1975. (VRP 588). Brand’s work at the refinery ended no later than the end of February 1972. (VRP 1118). The refinery began refining oil in November 1971. (VRP 589). Under RCW 4.16.310, Mrs. Brandes’ cause of action against Brand must have accrued, if at all, within six years the date the refinery became operational in November 1971.<sup>4</sup> In fact, she was not diagnosed with mesothelioma until 2014, more than forty years later. Even if we use one of the other potentially relevant dates, Brand’s departure from the site or Mr. Brandes’ departure from the site, the result is identical. Plaintiff’s claims against Brand for asbestos exposure arising from Brand’s use of specified asbestos containing insulation on the project did not accrue within six years of any arguably relevant date referenced in

---

<sup>4</sup> Once the claim accrued within the six year accrual period, Plaintiff would have had an additional three years under the applicable statute of limitations in which to file a lawsuit.

the statute. Plaintiff's claims were barred by the contractor statute of repose.

**2. Brand's Construction Activities Are Protected**

RCW 4.16.300 explicitly covers all claims and causes of action against Brand that might have arisen out of its construction activities at the refinery. There is no ambiguity in the statute. It shall apply to all claims or causes of action of any kind against any person. There is no exclusion in the statute for "negligent sales" claims, even if such a claim against Brand existed. (VRP 32; Appendix A).

Moreover, the trial court's focus on "improvement to real property" is misplaced. Brand was involved in the construction phase of the refinery and, therefore, Brand's insulation activities are protected under RCW 4.16.300. Much of the trial court level jurisprudence in recent years has focused on whether or not the particular work done by a contractor constituted an improvement to real property, in and of itself. That is apparently the inquiry the trial court engaged in when he found a "question of fact" as to whether Brand's work constituted an improvement to real property. (VRP 53). In fact, there was no dispute as to the scope and nature of Brand's activities at the site. The only issue was the legal implication of those activities. That is not a question of fact.

The Washington Supreme Court held in *Lakeview Blvd. Condominium Ass'n*,<sup>5</sup> that the relevant inquiry under the statute of repose is whether the defendant was a contractor who performed construction services or is a manufacturer of a product. *Lakeview Blvd. Condominium Ass'n v. Apartment Sales Corp.*, 144 Wn.2d 570, 578-79, 29 P.3d 1249 (2001). Contractors performing construction services are covered by the statute of repose, and product manufacturers are not. *Lakeview* gives context to the Court's prior ruling in *Condit v. Lewis Refrigeration Co.*, 101 Wn.2d 106, 110-11, 676 P.2d 466 (1984). *Condit* is often cited for the proposition, as it was in this case, that the critical inquiry is whether or not the specific work performed by the contractor is an "improvement" to real property. *Lakeview* clarified that the proper inquiry is whether or not the contractor was performing construction activities in connection with the construction, alteration or repair of an improvement to real property or whether it was a manufacturer of a product intended to be installed in the improvement. *Lakeview*, 144 Wn.2d at 579. Brand was a contractor installing a component of a refinery which was, unquestionably, an improvement to real property. Brand's activities fall within the scope of the statute. The trial court erred in denying Brand's Motion for Summary Judgment.

---

<sup>5</sup> Oddly enough, a case in which Judge Downing was the trial court judge and made the correct ruling.

3. **The Discovery Rule Does Not Provide Shelter for Plaintiff's Claims**

Brand made a motion for reconsideration of the trial court's denial of summary judgment, which the court denied by way of an order attached to an email. (CP 003458-59). The email body is attached as Appendix B and states in part:

I was interested to be reminded of Justice Owens' recitation (at p. 577-8) of the primary purposes of statutes of repose. With these in mind, it seems pretty clear the statute should not be used to preclude a claim based on asbestos exposure that is alleged to have occurred soon after, and directly due to, the defendants' negligent sale or use in question but which could not have led to any claim until several decades later.

Essentially, the trial court judicially grafted a discovery rule onto the statute of repose. The plain language of the statute rejects the argument that a discovery rule can alter the date a cause of action accrues. Under a discovery rule, "a cause of action accrues and the statute of limitation does not begin to run until the plaintiff learns of or in the exercise of reasonable diligence should have learned of the facts which give rise to the cause of action." *Metropolitan Services, Inc. v. Spokane*, 32 Wn.App. 714, 720, 649 P.2d 642 (1982); see *U.S. Oil & Refining Co. v. Department of Ecology*, 96 Wn.2d 85, 92, 633 P.2d 1329 (1981). "[T]he legislature has the constitutional power to enact a clear line of demarcation to fix a precise time beyond which no remedy will be available."

*Rodriguez v. Niemeyer*, 23 Wn.App. 398, 401, 595 P.2d 952 (1979); *see Ruth v. Dight*, 75 Wn.2d 660, 666, 453 P.2d 631 (1969). Statutes of repose differ from statutes of limitation because “ ‘[a] statute of limitation bars plaintiff from bringing an already accrued claim after a specific period of time,’ ” whereas a “ ‘statute of repose terminates a right of action after a specified time, even if the injury has not yet occurred.’ ” *1000 Virginia Ltd. P’ship v. Vertecs Corp.*, 158 Wn.2d 566, 574–75, 146 P.3d 423 (2006) (quoting *Rice v. Dow Chem. Co.*, 124 Wn.2d 205, 211–12, 875 P.2d 1213 (1994) (emphasis added)); *see also Wash. State Major League Baseball Stadium Pub. Facilities Dist. v. Huber, Hunt & Nichols–Kiewit Constr. Co.*, 176 Wn.2d 502, 511, 296 P.3d 821 (2013).

RCW 4.16.300 and .310 were adopted to protect architects, contractors, engineers, surveyors and others from extended potential tort and contract liability. *Pinneo v. Stevens Pass, Inc.*, 14 Wn.App. 848, 545 P.2d 1207 (1976). RCW 4.16.310 places an outer limit on when a cause of action can accrue. Our Supreme Court in *Gevaart v. Metco Construction, Inc.*, 111 Wn.2d 499, 502, 760 P.2d 348 (1988) rejected the proposition that the discovery rule overcomes the statute of repose. The *Gevaart* court held that the statute of absolutely bars claims that have not accrued within six years. *Gevaart*, 111 Wn.2d at 502. The fact that Plaintiff in this case could not have learned of her injury until “several

decades later” is irrelevant. RCW 4.16 .310 bars all claims that accrue more than six years after substantial completion of a construction project. Plaintiff filed her claim more than forty years after any date relevant to the application of the statute of repose. The denial of Brand’s motion for reconsideration was error.

**B. Brand Did Not Owe Ms. Brandes a Duty Under the Laws of Negligence**

**1. There is no Legal Basis under a Common Law Negligence Theory to Extend Liability Under These Circumstances**

In order to prevail in an action for negligence, the Plaintiff must establish: (1) the existence of a duty; (2) breach of that duty; (3) proximate cause; (4) and, resulting injury. *Alhadeff v. Meridian on Bainbridge Island, Ltd.*, 167 Wn.2d 601, 618, 220 P.3d 1214 (2009). Whether an actionable duty was owed by the defendant to the particular plaintiff is a threshold determination. *Munich v. Skagit Emergency Commc’n Ctr.*, 175 Wn.2d 871, 877, 288 P.3d 328 (2012). That determination is a question of law reviewed de novo. *Id.* There can be no tort liability unless the defendant owes a duty to the plaintiff. *Hansen v. Friend*, 118 Wn.2d 476, 479, 824 P.2d 483 (1992). When no duty of care exists, a defendant cannot be subject to liability for negligent conduct. *Webstad v. Stortini*, 83 Wn.App. 857, 865, 924 P.2d 940 (1996). We are unaware of any Washington case that has addressed the issue of duty to a plaintiff alleging

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