No. 73748-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRAND INSULATIONS, INC.,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

v.

ESTATE OF BARBARA BRANDES,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/CROSS-APPELLANT

Matthew P. Bergman (WSBA No. 20894) Kaitlin T. Wright (WSBA No. 45241) BERGMAN DRAPER LADENBURG 821 2nd Avenue, Suite 2100 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 957-9510

`*

Leonard J. Feldman (WSBA No. 20961) PETERSON | WAMPOLD | ROSATO | LUNA | KNOPP 1501 4th Avenue, Suite 2800 Seattle, WA 98101 (206-682)-6800

Attorneys for Respondent/Cross-Appellant

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. Issues on Appeal.

1. The Trial Court's Denial of Brand's Summary Judgment on the Statute of Repose is Not Properly Before this Court, Nor Did The Trial Court Err.

a. <u>The Trial Court's Denial of Brand's Summary Judgment</u> <u>and Reconsideration Motions on the Statute of Repose is</u> <u>Not Properly Before this Court</u>.

Brand assigns error to the trial court's "ruling that Washington's construction Statute of Repose did not bar Mrs. Brandes' claims." Brand's Opening Brief at 1. The Court need not—and should not—address this issue for two separate and independent reasons.

<u>First</u>, appellate review of the trial court's summary judgment ruling is unavailable as a matter of law. In denying Brand's Motion for Summary Judgment and for Reconsideration on the contractor's Statute of Repose, RCW 4.61.300, *et seq*, the trial court explicitly found a fact question as to whether insulation is an "improvement to real property" under the Statute—a necessary predicate to the application of the defense. RP 53. As this Court has explicitly recognized, an appellate court "may not review a denial of summary judgment following a trial if the denial was based upon a determination that material facts were in dispute and had to be resolved by the fact finder." *Washburn v. City of Fed. Way*, 169 Wn. App. 588, 610, 283 P.3d 567 (2012), *aff'd on other grounds*, 178 Wn.2d 732, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013); *see also Kaplan v. Nw. Mut. Life Ins. Co.*, 115 Wn. App. 791, 799, 65 P.3d 16 (2003), *quoting Brothers v. Pub. Sch. Employees of Washington*, 88 Wn. App. 398, 409, 945 P.2d 208 (1997) ("A summary judgment denial cannot be appealed following a trial if the denial was based upon a determination that material facts are disputed and must be resolved by the factfinder."). For this reason alone, Brand's first argument fails.

Second, Brand failed to request a jury instruction sufficient to preserve the issue for appeal. CP 3460-83, RP 1345-64. Indeed, Brand neglected to request *any* instruction pertaining to its Statute of Repose defense, including failing to request an instruction that would have put the question of whether insulation installed by Brand at the Cherry Point facility constituted an improvement to real property. *See* CP 3460-83. Nor did Brand take exception to the trial court's failure to give any such instruction that would have put the Statute of Repose defense before the jury. RP 1345-64. Thus, Brand has not preserved the first assigned error raised in its appeal for this Court's review. *See Ball v. Smith*, 87 Wn.2d 717, 720, 556 P.2d 936 (1976); *Washburn*, 169 Wn. App. at 600. For either or both of these reasons, appellate review of the Statute of Repose issue is foreclosed.

b. If the Court Reaches the Issue, the Trial Court Correctly Found an Issue of Fact as to Whether Insulation Constitutes an Improvement to Real Property Prerequisite to Application of the Repose Defense.

As the trial court reasoned, the applicability of the Statute of Repose to claims based on the defendant's negligent installation turns on whether the

10

insulation products Brand installed at the Cherry Point refinery constitute an "improvement to real property." RP 51-53; RCW 4.16.300 (Statute of Repose covers claims relating to "any *improvement upon real property*") (emphasis added). Application of the statute to Plaintiff's negligent installation claims thus required a threshold determination of whether thermal insulation products installed by Brand at Cherry Point qualify as an improvement to real property—a determination which other courts have already agreed, as the trial court did here, is a factual one.

In *Condit v. Lewis Refrigeration*, 101 Wn.2d 106, 676 P.2d 466 (1984), the Supreme Court considered whether the Statute of Repose barred a personal injury lawsuit in a case where the plaintiff was injured by a conveyer belt in a refrigeration unit installed at a food processing plant. The plaintiff brought an action against Lewis, the conveyer belt designer, manufacturer, and installer. *Id.* at 107. Lewis argued that the conveyer belt was "an improvement to real property" and therefore subject to the time bar of the contractor's Statute of Repose. The Supreme Court disagreed, holding that the conveyer belt and refrigeration unit at issue were not improvements to real property, but rather were "accoutrements to the manufacturing process." *Id.* at 112. The Court explained that the Statute of Repose only "protects individuals who work on structural aspects of the building." *Id.* at 111. It does not apply to manufacturers of non-integral systems, reasoning that "[m]echanical fastenings may attach a machine to the building, but they do not

convert production equipment into realty or integrate machines into the building structure, for they are not necessary for the building to function as a building." *Id.*

Condit thus makes plain that, in order for an improvement to property to be subject to the statute of repose, the thing that produces the injury must be "integral" to the structure. *Id.* at 111. *Cf. Highsmith v. J.C. Penney & Company*, 39 Wn. App. 57,691 P.2d 976 (1984) (applying *Condit* to determine that an escalator in a building was integral to that structure). This distinction comports with the legislative intent of the statute of repose—as construed by the Supreme Court—to protect only those individuals who work on structural aspects of a building rather than personal property contained therein. *Condit*, 101 Wn.2d at 111. Thus, the distinction between an improvement to real property and personal property is dispositive and factually dependent, as the trial court correctly ruled in this case.

It is equally clear that the trial court correctly found issues of fact on this dispositive point. The testimony of Raymond Brandes' coworkers as well as other documentary evidence demonstrated that thermal insulation supplied and installed by the defendant at the Cherry Point Refinery was impermanent and non-integral, as it was regularly and foreseeably removed, repaired, and replaced during routine maintenance. *E.g.*, CP 1944-46, 1951-54, 2842-43, 2845-59. On the basis of this and other record evidence, the trial court *correctly* found that there were factual disputes as to whether insulation supplied and installed by Brand constituted an improvement to real property within the purview of RCW 4.16.300. RP 53. Thus, even if the issue

was properly before this Court—which it is not—the trial court did not err in denying Brand's summary judgment motion.

2. Brand Owed a Duty to Ms. Brandes.

a. <u>Washington Law Recognizes a Duty to Family Members of</u> <u>Workers Exposed to Asbestos.</u>

Brand argues in order to impose liability there must be either retained control under *Arnold v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc.*, 157 Wn. App. 649, 240 P.3d 162 (2010), *rev. denied*, 171 Wn. 2d 1012, 249 P.3d 1029 (2011), or strict liability under *Lunsford v. Saberhagen Holdings*, 125 Wn. App. 784, 106 P.3d 808 (2005). Brand reaches this conclusion by conflating the tort principles of an actor's duty to control the conduct of third parties with the ordinary duty of reasonable care. Contrary to Brand's argument, asbestos product sellers and distributors have a duty to prevent the exposure of a worker's family to asbestos, even where the family members never set foot on the defendant's premises.

In *Lunsford*, this Court held that sellers of asbestos products owe a duty of care to household family members as users of such products when it was reasonably foreseeable that the family members would be exposed to asbestos. 125 Wn. App. at 793. In *Lunsford*, the plaintiff was exposed to asbestos from his father's work clothes during the 1950s and sued the insulation contractor who supplied asbestos-containing products to the father's work site. On review of that decision at the Supreme Court, the defendant argued unsuccessfully that expansion of common law product liability to family members of asbestos workers could not be applied

retroactively. *Lunsford v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc.*, 166 Wn.2d 264, 208 P.3d 1092 (2009). In reaching this holding, the Supreme Court implicitly approved this Court's determination that family members were product users for purposes of the RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS (1965) § 402. Similarly, in *Arnold*, the son of an asbestos insulator asserted take-home asbestos exposure claims against Lockheed shipyard. 157 Wn. App. at 653. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's dismissal of his take-home liability claim, recognizing the existence of a common law negligence duty of care by Lockheed to the family members of workers. *Id.* at 668-69, 671.

Applying Washington law on "take home" asbestos exposure claims, the trial court in this case properly denied Brand's motion for summary judgment based on its "no duty" argument and submitted to the jury the question of whether Brand exercised reasonable care to protect Ms. Brandes from foreseeable harm. *See Lockwood*, 109 Wn. 2d 235; *Rikstad v. Holmberg*, 76 Wn. 2d 265, 456 P.2d 355 (1969). The foreseeability of Ms. Brandes' injuries was quintessentially a question for the jury. Having been properly instructed that "[n]egligence is the failure to exercise ordinary care" and that "[o]rdinary care means the care a reasonably careful [] corporation would exercise under the same or similar circumstances as they existed at the time of the conduct in question" (CP 1536 (Jury Instruction No. 8)), the jury appropriately found that Ms. Brandes' injuries were reasonably

foreseeable to Brand at the time of her asbestos exposures in 1971-1975. CP 5142-43.

The jury's finding of negligence, encompassing its finding of the foreseeability of Ms. Brandes' exposure, was thoroughly supported by the evidence at trial. Plaintiff marshalled evidence that Brand was the primary insulation subcontractor who procured the majority of the insulation at the Cherry Point refinery, including asbestos insulation, and sold such insulation products to ARCO pursuant to Brand's subcontract. RP 194-95, 237-39, 244-45, 316-19, 323-24, 432. Plaintiff also presented evidence that Brand installed the thermal insulation for piping and equipment in the two areas of the refinery where Mr. Brandes worked, the crude area and coker, and that Brand insulators took no precautions to minimize the dust generated by their insulation activities. RP 385-86, 436-39, 612-14. The jury heard evidence that at least two of Brand's competitors, J.T. Thorpe Insulation and Plant Insulations, *did* engage in safe industrial hygiene practices concerning asbestos insulation. RP 1302-05.

Mr. Brandes' co-worker, Dan Williams, as well as witnesses Nils Johnson and Leslie Pugh, further testified that visible dust was generated by Brand's on-site insulation work. RP 381-82, 433, 598-99. In conjunction, Plaintiff's expert industrial hygienist John Templin testified that whenever asbestos dust is visible, the concentration of asbestos in the atmosphere would exceed even the higher timeweighted average originally applied by OSHA in the early 1970s. RP 678-80, 70809, 722. Furthermore, Plaintiff presented extensive evidence that the medical, scientific, and industry/trade literature in the decades leading up to Ms. Brandes' exposure confirmed the risk of workers' family members developing disease following exposure to toxic substances carried home on contaminated work clothing. *E.g.*, Exs. 35, 41, 50, 343.

Plaintiff's state-of-the-art expert, Barry Castleman, Ph.D., testified to this body of knowledge and its availability to companies like Brand engaged in the insulation contracting business. RP 824-67. The jury was thus presented with ample evidence to find that Brand could have foreseen harm to family members of workers exposed to asbestos from Brand's insulation activities at Cherry Point. *See King v. City of Seattle,* 84 Wn.2d 239, 248, 525 P.2d 228 (1974) ("[1]iability is not predicated upon the ability to foresee the exact manner in which the injury may be sustained.").² There is no basis to vacate that finding or the trial court's corresponding analysis.

² A risk is foreseeable if it merely falls within the "general field of danger which should have been anticipated" by the defendant. *Rikstad v. Holmberg*, 76 Wn.2d 265, 269, 456 P.2d 355 (1969). That the particular mode, method, or cause of harm was not foreseeable does not relieve a tortfeasor from liability so long as the *general* nature of the harm was foreseeable. *King*, 84 Wn.2d at 248. Moreover, the foreseeablity inquiry cannot be made in a vacuum, and depends in part on the defendant's circumstances and position, as well as the defendant's actual knowledge. *Id. See also N.K. v. Corp. of Presiding Bishop of Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints*, 175 Wn. App. 517, 530-31, 307 P.3d 730, 737 (2013).

b. <u>A "Special Relationship" is Only Required When Harm</u> <u>Results from the Conduct of a Third Party.</u>

Brand claims that it owed no duty of care to Ms. Brandes absent a "special relationship" between the parties. This argument misperceives the nature of Plaintiff's general negligence claim.

Common law negligence requires an actor to exercise ordinary care to protect the plaintiff from harm. However, the duty does not extend to protecting the plaintiff from harms caused by third persons absent a "special relationship" between the defendant and a third person, or between the defendant and the plaintiff. *See* 16 WASH. PRAC., TORT LAW AND PRACTICE § 2:8 (4th ed.). Here, Ms. Brandes' negligence claims were based on Brand's sale and installation of asbestos products at the Cherry Point refinery, not on the actions of third parties. Brand's argument that "the parties were legal strangers" (Brand's Opening Brief at 19) therefore fails easily. *Webstad v. Stortini*, 83 Wn. App. 857, 924 P.2d 940 1996).

Brand owed an independent duty to exercise reasonable care in its sale and installation of asbestos products at the Cherry Point site. Plaintiff offered evidence at trial that Brand failed to take precautions to control the release of asbestos fibers resulting from its insulation activities at the refinery. RP 385-86, 436-39, 612-14. Plaintiff further presented evidence that Brand made no efforts to warn bystanders or otherwise implement engineering controls to reduce the exposure of ARCO employees, such as Ms. Brandes' husband, to the friable asbestos released by Brand's activities at the Cherry Point site. *E.g.*, RP 612. Based on this evidence, the jury concluded that Brand failed to exercise ordinary care in its sale and installation of asbestos products at the ARCO refinery. Because this finding was based on Brand's own misconduct, not the acts or omissions of third parties, no "special relationship" was required to impose liability under Washington negligence law.

c. <u>Recognition of a Duty Owed by Brand Does Not Pose a Risk</u> of Limitless Liability.

Brand also argues in the alternative that liability should not be imposed because "If Brand had a duty to Mrs. Brandes, there is no logical way to deny such a duty to all persons who had ever set foot in her home..." Brand's Opening Brief at 24. Brand's policy argument based on reasoning of *reductio ad absurdum* ignores the facts of this case. The relationship between Brand and Raymond Brandes' family was not one of complete legal strangers. Rather, Brand was a contractor working at the jobsite of Mr. Brandes' employer, ARCO, with a duty to exercise reasonable care in the protection of persons exposed to the products Brand was selling and installing at the jobsite. Thus, Brand's "slippery slope" argument that unlimited liability will ensue if the Court affirms the recognition of a duty owed to Ms. Brandes is completely unfounded.

3. The Jury's Causation Finding is Supported by the Evidence.

Brand argues that the jury's verdict should be overturned because there was not a legally sufficient basis to support its finding that Brand's negligence was a proximate cause of Ms. Brandes' mesothelioma.

Although denial of a CR 50(a) and (b) motion is reviewed *de novo*, the standard for granting such relief is both demanding and deferential. Judgment as a matter of law under CR 50 is only appropriate where there is "no legally sufficient evidentiary basis for a reasonable jury to find or have found for that party with respect to that issue." CR 50(a)(1). In adjudicating a request for directing or overturning a jury verdict,

[t]he trial court has no discretion and may grant the motion only where there is *no competent evidence nor reasonable inference* which would sustain a jury verdict in favor of the nonmoving party. If there is any justifiable evidence upon which reasonable minds might reach conclusions that sustain the verdict, the question is for the jury.

Levy v. N. Am. Co. for Life & Health Ins., 90 Wn. 2d 846, 851, 586 P.2d 845 (1978) (emphasis supplied). See also Sing v. John L. Scott, Inc., 134 Wn.2d 24, 29, 948 P.2d 816 (1997).

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